IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE Dec. 30 592 LERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID MUELLER ELAM,

Defendant/Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

## CASE NO. 80,039

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fla. 32114 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

####

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Carl Beard was killed December 17, 1991. His body was discovered five days later in the Withlachoochee River by-pass canal near Englis, Florida. (R416-17).<sup>1</sup> On January 7, 1992, an indictment was returned charging an employee of Beard's, David Elam, with Beard's first-degree murder. (R415). Mr. Elam was arrested on December 17, 1992, and held without bond at the Volusia County Branch Jail Facility. (R416-17).

After Elam's arrest, the State moved on February 14, 1992, to have Elam's fiancee, Susan Dawson, declared a material witness. (R431-32;450-51). The State also moved to perpetuate her testimony based on the affidavit of Assistant State Attorney ("ASA") David Damore, who claimed that Ms. Dawson was a destitute British national, illegally within the United States due to expiration of her visa, and a person who was subject to being deported by the immigration authorities "in the near future." (R435-39).

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  (R  $\,$  ) refers to the record on appeal in the instant case.

A hearing on the State's motions occurred February 24, 1992. (R263-284). Initially, ASA Damore withdrew his request that a bond be placed on Ms. Dawson because he recognized that the result of any bond would be to separate Ms. Dawson from her infant child. (R268). However, when Ms. Dawson filed a written statement and claimed that ASA Damore was pressuring her to give misleading statements (R441-43), ASA Damore reversed his position and asked for a \$10,000 bond to be set. (R274-76).

Elam, who present at this hearing, told the court that he had been the sole source of support for both Ms. Dawson and his young child and that he was very concerned about the actions of the prosecutor. (R274). An argument between ASA Damore and Ms. Dawson ended with ASA Damore stating he no longer wanted to perpetuate her testimony because she had become a hostile witness. (R278). The court found Ms. Dawson to be a material witness but declined to set a bond, instead ordering that Ms. Dawson personally report to the State Attorney's Office three days a week. (R281).

On April 27, 1992, Elam's counsel moved to continue the trial date in order to complete discovery (R444), but the motion was denied because Mr. Elam refused waive a speedy trial. (R310). The case remained on the trial docket for the week of May 18, 1992. (R310). Two additional charges were added on May 11, 1992, when Elam was arrested for trying to hire a person named Mike Best to murder two witnesses in the pending murder case, and in doing so agreed to have Ms. Dawson participate. (R516-17).

On May 11, 1992, the day the information was filed, Elam pled guilty to the pending first-degree murder charge the and two new counts of solicitation to commit first-degree murder. (R324-52). As Elam's defense counsel stated the terms of a negotiated plea of guilty to all charges whereby Elam would receive a life sentence on the first-degree murder conviction, to be followed by concurrent 30 years sentences for the solicitation convictions, Elam told his counsel that he wanted the death penalty and wanted to waive a sentencing recommendation from the jury. (R325). Hearing this, ASA Damore acknowledged that he had negotiated the announced plea with defense counsel but, based on Elam's assertion that he wanted the death penalty, announced that the State would seek the death penalty and agree to Elam's waiver of a jury recommendation. (R326).

ASA Damore indicated that in prior discussions Elam had "express[ed] concern to me for a lady named Susan Dawson, who is the mother of his child." (R328). The court arraigned Elam on the solicitation charges (R329-32), conducted a plea colloquy (R332-47), and found that the guilty pleas were knowingly and voluntarily entered. (R347-48). Elam was permitted to sit because he felt ill (R351-52), a PSI was waived and Elam was adjudicated guilty of the two counts of solicitation to commit first-degree murder (R354) and sentenced to two, thirty year terms of imprisonment, to be served concurrently with each other but consecutively to the sentence that was to be imposed on the conviction for first-degree murder. (R354).

Elam's permitted sentence under the sentencing guidelines was from seven (7) to twenty-two (22) years. (R527). The written reason for the departure from the recommended guideline sentence, found at the bottom of the scoresheet, states, "Defendant agreed to sentence as part of agreement and seriousness of charges." (R527). Elam was adjudicated guilty of first-degree murder. (R368). ASA Damore announced that the State was prepared to immediately begin a penalty phase. (R359). The court questioned Elam about his desire for the death penalty and concluded that Elam was, "in essence, directing defense counsel to sit on his hands and to not make any objections." (R359). When reservations were expressed about whether an appointed defense attorney could ethically just stand by and do nothing during a penalty phase, Elam stated, "Your Honor, can I fire my attorney and represent myself?" (R361). The court did not rule on Elam's request. (R363). Elam gave a handwritten waiver of the right to a jury recommendation and the proceedings concluded. (R364;459).

On May 13, 1992, two days after Elam pled, he was again brought before Judge Hutcheson and asked about his wish to waive his presence at the penalty hearing. Elam confirmed his decision not to be present and, in reference to representation by counsel, stated, "I don't want him to make any comment, no anything in regard to the penalty phase or the rest of this case." (R381). Elam's counsel confirmed that Elam was competent. (R382).

At the State's insistence, the court asked Elam whether he wanted counsel and Elam again stated that he wanted counsel to be present, but to do nothing. (R391-92). The State remained dissatisfied, and Judge Hutcheson asked, "Why don't we just chuck this whole thing?" (R394). Elam's counsel moved to withdraw since he was not to actively represent his client. (R395).

Judge Hutcheson concluded the hearing as follows:

The bottom line then would be Court: Thursday morning at nine o'clock you will not be transported unless you change your mind between now and a week from tomorrow, let Mr. Cass know or Mr. Jacobson of the Public Defender's Office and we will be more than happy to have you over here. As of now, unless you change your mind, and you made it crystal clear what your wishes are, I will honor those wishes and you will not have to be present. I will not have the deputy transport you over here a week Thursday at nine o'clock on May 21st, and the following Friday if necessary, if we get into the second day. Mr. Cass would be here, but he, basically, will just be sitting in and not participating either by making an opening statement, cross-examining state witnesses, calling his own only witnesses, presenting any evidence or documents and would not participate in closing arguments. Is that the way you wish it, Mr. Elam?

(Mr. Elam) Yes, sir.

(R398) (emphasis added). The court confirmed to Elam that "Mr. Cass will be here and not take any part in the trial other than basically physically occupying a chair." (R399). Counsel told the Court that he could not present the mitigating evidence that quickly and was told that, should Mr. Elam's defense posture change, a continuance would be granted if requested. (R401).

### THE PENALTY PHASE

The penalty hearing occurred approximately a week later. At the inception of that hearing, the court told defense counsel that Mr. Elam had called and wanted to know why he was not being brought over for the hearing that morning. (R4-5). Defense counsel replied that, when he and Mr. Elam had discussed the matter earlier, they were uncertain as to what, procedurally, would happen. (R6). Judge Hutcheson's understanding was that counsel would not actively represent Mr. Elam, but he would be allowed to address the court after the State's case if he so chose. (R7-8).

Counsel insisted that Elam be brought over from the jail in order to timely ratify his prior waivers and objected to being required by the Court to "represent" the defendant while simultaneously being required to do nothing by the client. Counsel further argued that an adversarial procedure is needed to develop the pertinent facts upon which to impose a death penalty and that he, as counsel, was otherwise mandated by the Sixth Amendment and the Code of Professional Conduct to fully represent a client to the best of his ability, and that sitting in a chair doing nothing does not fulfill those responsibilities. Counsel argued that, if Elam was not waiving his right to counsel and the Public Defender's Office was not being allowed to withdraw, then as counsel he was ethically and constitutionally required to fully represent his client. (R13-15).

Counsel argued that <u>Klokoc v. State</u>, 589 So.2d 219 (Fla.1991) required a truly adversary penalty phase and stated that, unless allowed to withdraw, he felt ethically bound defend his client against the death penalty. (R16-24). The court was reminded that, for Elam to be actively represented, a continuance was needed to get the witnesses from California to testify about existing mitigation. (R25).

Elam arrived and waived the right to attend the penalty phase, "with the exception that I would like to read my statement at such time as the district attorney is done." (R38). Elam also confirmed his desire that his counsel make no objections and present no evidence on his behalf, (R39-40), and counsel renewed his motion to withdraw as follows:

> Mr. Cass: I do renew that motion, Your Honor, because I'm put in a position where I can't meet the duties that's imposed on me by the Sixth Amendment, Constitution of the United States, and our parallel state bill of rights section.

I believe there is mitigation in this case, and I'm not going to be able to put it on. I am not prepared to represent in the penalty phase, as I stated in my motion to continue previously entered with the Court, but I'm being put in a position where I have responsibilities I have to meet. I'm not arguing with Mr. Elam's right to not have a defense if he wants not to defend I think he has a right to do this. that. But I don't think he has the right to ask me to do things which are contrary to the code of professional responsibility under the Constitution of the State of Florida and of the United Thank you, Your Honor. States.

(R42).

Counsel's predicament was discussed (R42-45) and Elam stated, "Your Honor, all I want to do is get this over with. If it's quicker for him to say something, let him say something. Just let me go so we can get it over with, please." (R45). Counsel explained that his investigation of possible mitigation was incomplete, due in part to defense counsel's representation of four other defendants charged with first-degree murder and because of the finalized plea agreement with the State whereby Elam was to have received a life sentence. (R45;58-59;455-56). The State argued that it was the client's decision to determine how to proceed and suggested that the Public Defender's Office be appointed on a "stand-by" basis. (R45-46). The Public Defender's Motion to Withdraw and request for a continuance were denied. (R57-60;118;119-124).

Elam left the courtroom and the penalty phase began. The Medical Examiner testified that Beard had died as a result of blunt trauma to the head. (R83). His skull had been fractured as a result of six to twelve blows. (R88-90). Beard's arms were bruised (R84) and a finger of his left hand had been fractured. (R86). These were typical "defensive wounds." (R87). Beard was conscious long enough to get his arms in a defensive posture (R91), but may have been unconsciousness within 30 seconds after the altercation began. (R96). In fact, the fight may have lasted only 30 seconds. It was probable that Beard was unconscious at the end of the fight and that he never regained consciousness before dying. (R94).

David Elam had been hired by Beard to manage a store named "Easyriders." (R103). Detective Yuill went to Easyriders and asked Elam about the disappearance of funds. (100-101). Elam told Detective Yuill that he deposited funds for the business and produced records indicating when deposits were made at the First Union Bank. (R101-102). Detective Yuill's investigation showed that \$10,130.79 was missing from Easyriders during the period of September 9, 1991, through October 31, 1991. (R102).

Elam could not explain the disappearance of funds and said there had been no burglaries or thefts at the store. (R103). Beard had an appointment at First Union Bank on the day of his murder. (R104). Detective Yuill determined that three checks totalling \$15,500 had not been received by Easyriders' parent company, Paisano Publications, in California. (R104-105). Over hearsay objection, Officer Yuill testified that Beard had obtained the day's receipts totalling \$4,200 from Elam on December 16, 1991, the day before Beard's death, and that the money was still missing. (R106-107).

After Elam's arrest, a box containing 43 deposit slips and a \$5,000 check, with Elam's fingerprint on it, was found in a back room of Easyriders. (R109;132-35). The State used "faxed" copies of Paisano Publications bank statement to show that \$10,130.79 was missing from Easyriders' account. (R111-12). On cross-examination, Detective Yuill explained that Elam admitted filling out the 43 deposit slips, but also said that both he (Elam) and Beard made deposits at the bank. (R114-15).

Detective Ewanik determined that the concrete blocks found affixed to Beard's body when it was discovered in the canal were similar to blocks located at the rear of Easyriders. (R125-127). Elam told Detective Ewanik that, on December 16th, he and Carl Beard had spent the entire day going over ledger books and that, the next day, Beard was to have gone to First Union Bank to deposit \$4,200 cash and go over the discrepancies found in the deposit records. (R128-29). Ewanik's investigation showed that Frank Fell and Mary Maibauer<sup>2</sup> had, at Elam's request (R133), burned checkbooks and records that Beard possessed on December 16, 1991. (R130-31). Fell and Maibauer gave sworn statements that Elam had asked them to get rid of Beard's body (R136), and they told Ewanik that, on the day Beard had been killed, Elam and Maibauer had driven Beard's Cadillac to the Daytona Beach Regional Airport and left it in the parking lot, and that thereafter they (Fell and Maibauer) retrieved the vehicle and took it to Ocala where it was left in a shopping mall parking lot. (R146).

Detective Ewanik testified that at some unspecified time he heard Elam tell detectives that he had been confronted by Beard on the morning of December 17th and that a fight had ensued. Elam hit Beard in the face with his fist, knocked Beard to the floor, struck him again, obtained a brick and then repeatedly hit Beard in the head with it. (R139-140).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These are the two individuals that Elam is alleged to have solicited Mike Best to murder.

Detective Ewanik was told by an inmate, Ford, that Elam admitted being confronted by Beard on December 16th about missing funds and knew then that Beard would have to be done away with. (R135). Ewanik heard that Elam was attempting to contact someone from the Outlaw motorcycle gang to have Fell and Maibauer killed to prevent them from testifying. (R135-36;522). On May 5, 1992 a state attorney investigator named Mike Best was placed in the jail and introduced to Elam as a Mafia hitman. (R159). Best asked how he could help and Elam told him he needed something done. (R160). Best was careful to have Elam clarify that he was hiring Best to do away with Fell and Maibauer. (R136-37;160-61). Elam was to inherit a portion of 28 million dollars and would then be able to pay Best's boss, "Louie." (162). Elam gave Best copies of arrest reports for Fell and Maibauer to show where they lived. (R137;162-63). However, Best told Elam that if Susan Dawson did not meet him and hand him a note stating "Big Mike," the deal was be off. (R167-68). Ms. Dawson met Best and reluctantly showed him where Fell and Maibauer lived. (R168-69).

Dawson was arrested and interrogated by Damore. One officer claims that Ms. Dawson said that, on the night Beard was killed, Elam left Easyriders and went home. Two or three minutes later, after Elam and Dawson argued, Elam handed their child to Dawson, left the house and returned to the store. Ms. Dawson followed and allegedly heard Beard say, "Please don't hit me again." (R171-72). She entered and saw Beard lying on the floor, with Elam present. (R173).

Detective Ewanik recalled differently. He testified that at first Dawson denied any knowledge about what had happened to Beard. (R141). However, after being confronted with the plot to have Fell and Maibauer killed, Ms. Dawson indicated that she had seen Beard arrive at Easyriders on December 17 and enter the rear of the store with Elam. After several minutes she went into the store and saw Beard lying on the floor, bleeding profusely from the head. (R142). Detective Ewanik did not remember Ms. Dawson say that she heard Beard say anything. (R142). Ewanik's account comports more closely with the written statement Ms. Dawson provided to the Court. (R441-43).

The State rested (177) and counsel sought to proffer the mitigation that the witnesses in California would present. (R179). The State objected:

Court: You want to be heard any further on that, Mr. Daly?

Mr. Daly: Yes, Your Honor. I don't see what relevance it has. To the effect that Mr. Cass thinks he could present more, I'm sure we could present more, too. But the determination by this court is to be made upon evidence presented in this courtroom.

Court: I think as far as an appellate tactic, it's going to have to stand on the motions I've already ruled on. I think you've done the best to protect the record, that you wanted more time, you mentioned about bringing a California witness in here, so I would not allow a proffer.

(R182).

Elam presented the testimony of the victim's brother, who had been attending the penalty proceeding. (R 76-77). Mr. Beard testified that his family had agreed not to object to a sentence of life imprisonment if Elam pled guilty to first-degree murder because the family did not want to go through the pain of a trial where they would relive his brother's death. (R183-85). On cross-examination, Mr. Beard stated that he had no qualms about a death sentence now in light of the fact that Elam had tried to solicit murder to cover up his brother's murder. (R184).

Over the State's "lack of disclosure" objection, Elam presented the testimony of Timothy Wise, a friend of Elam's who also just happened to be in the courtroom attending the penalty phase. (R186-191). Wise established that Elam once owned a restaurant located across the street from Wise. In times of need, Wise would go to Elam and receive help. "Dave, from the time I've known him, Dave has, Dave has always been a super fine person. Dave -- because he's helped people very generously in several different ways." (R191). Wise borrowed Elam's car and knew that Elam loaned another friend a substantial amount of money. (R191). Elam had always given Christmas and birthday gifts to Wise's daughter, and had once dressed as a clown and put on a party for the children. (R192).

When Wise's parents came to Florida, Elam gave them groceries for two weeks, as well as snacks for the trip back to West Virginia. (R192). Elam was a good parent who adored his child. (R193). On cross-examination by ASA Damore, Wise

indicated that he did not know that Elam was involved in soliciting the murder of Maibauer or Fell (R194) and indicated that he and Elam previously had a falling out over business so they had not kept in touch. (R195). Wise did not believe that Elam stole money from the Easyriders store. (R195).

Following the testimony of Mr. Wise, defense counsel again sought to proffer the mitigation that his investigation had uncovered. (R198-99). When the State again objected, the court repeated that a proffer of such evidence would not be allowed:

> Court: That much is true. The fact that you're kind of hamstrung here today, Mr. Cass, is mostly -- is all your client's doing. I'm pretty sure I did go ahead and rule earlier when the State objected, but if I didn't, I again sustain the State's objections and not allow you to make that proffer of what you hoped you could have shown had you had your motion to continue to get ready.

(R199-200).

### MR. ELAM'S STATEMENT

Defense rested and Elam was brought into the courtroom. He began by asking whether the State was through with prosecuting Susan Dawson. (R203). After being assured that the State could not present her testimony, Elam explained why he had suddenly pled guilty and asked for the death penalty.

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