FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 2 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID MUELLER ELAM,)
Appellant,)
vs.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.)
)

CASE NO. 80,039

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0857238

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

As this Court has recently reaffirmed, "[a] motive to eliminate a potential witness to an antecedent crime . . . can provide the basis for this aggravating factor. An arrest need not be imminent at the time of the murder. Such a motive can be inferred from the evidence presented in th[e] case." Fotopoulos v. State, 18 F.L.W. S18, 21 (Fla. Dec. 24, 1992) (citation omitted). Based on the facts of this case, the trial court properly found that Appellant's dominant motive for killing Carl Beard was to eliminate him as a witness to the theft of the funds from the store. See Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685 (Fla.

in fact, announced a no information at the plea hearing. (T 325, 355).

1990) (where defendant admitted that he killed the victim to keep her from telling her mother about sexual battery); Lopez v. State, 536 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1988) (where the defendant shot his robbery victims in head with handgun equipped with a silencer then remarked to accomplice that he had to shoot them because they could not afford to leave any witnesses behind); Remeta v. State, 522 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1988) (where defendant's remarks, plus physical and circumstantial evidence, proved aggravating factor), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871 (1989); Wright v. State, 473 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 1985) (where defendant admitted that he killed victim because she recognized him and he did not want to return to prison), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1094 (1986); Johnson v. State, 465 So.2d 499 (Fla. 1985) (where the defendant admitted killing the victim because she knew he was wanted for robbery and she had threatened to report him to the police), cert. denied, 474 U.S 865 (1986). Appellant's sentence should be affirmed.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT APPELLANT WAS PREVIOUSLY CONVICTED OF FELONIES INVOLVING THE USE OR THREAT OF VIOLENCE (Restated).

In its written sentencing order, the trial court made the following finding regarding the "prior violent felony conviction" aggravating factor:

That beyond all reasonable doubt, the defendant was previously convicted of the two (2) felonies involving the use or threat of violence to some person in that he was convicted, adjudicated, and sentenced to two (2) counts of Conspiracy to Commit First Degree Murder, first degree felonies.

(R 504). Initially, Appellant complains that convicted of conspiracy to commit murder, but rather convicted of solicitation to commit murder. Brief of Appellant at 84. While this is true, a complete reading of the trial court's written order reveals that the trial court's description of the prior convictions as "conspiracy" rather "solicitation" is merely a scrivener's error. Three times during its recitation of the facts, the trial court referred to the prior convictions correctly as "solicitation." (R 500, 503). Thus, its erroneous reference to the offenses as "conspiracy" in its findings is harmless at worst.

Next, Appellant complains that his solicitation to commit murder convictions do not qualify under this aggravating factor because solicitation to commit murder is not a crime involving use or threat of violence. Brief of Appellant at 84-86. The State submits, however, that Appellant has failed to preserve this argument for appeal, since he never raised such an objection

in the trial court. His only comments or objections below regarding these prior convictions related to their alleged nonfinal status:

[T]hese judgments aren't final because they won't be final for thirty days after the date that these are laid in the record, which I read '92 May 15 at 1:47 p.m. And I would say that for thirty days from that date, not counting the first day but counting the last day, those things would not be eligible to be used as aggravators.

(PT 244). See also (PT 176-77). Thus, because Appellant failed to make the argument below that he makes here, it is not a proper subject for review. See Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985) ("In order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved."); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) ("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below."). See also Preston v. State, 531 So.2d 154, 159 (Fla. 1988) (defendant failed to object to instruction regarding prior conviction).

Regardless, Appellant's argument is wholly without merit. Florida Statutes § 921.141(5)(b) authorizes the use of this aggravating factor if the defendant has been "previously convicted of . . . a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person. (Emphasis added). Whether any harm is ever visited upon the intended victim is of no consequence.

Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863, 871 (Fla. 1986). Here,

Appellant solicited an undercover investigator to murder two witnesses against him. Such an act clearly constitutes a "threat of violence." See id. ("terroristic threat" is felony involving use or threat of violence to person). Thus, this aggravating factor is valid. Even if it is not, however, there are three other valid aggravating factors and minimal evidence in mitigation. Thus, this Court should affirm Appellant's sentence.

See Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), cert.

denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988). See also Capehart v. State, 583
So.2d 1009, 1015 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 955 (1992).

ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED FOR PECUNIARY GAIN (Restated).

In its written sentencing order, the trial court made the following finding regarding the "pecuniary gain" aggravating factor:

That beyond all reasonable doubt, the murder which the defendant committed committed for financial gain in that at the time of the murder, the defendant was still engaged in an embezzlement from his employer, for whom both the defendant and victim worked, had embezzled up to that approximately Fifteen Thousand (\$15,000.00) Dollars when confronted by the victim regarding same.

(R 504). Appellant claims that the facts do not support this aggravating factor. Appellant also claims that the trial court improperly doubled the pecuniary gain and avoid arrest aggravating factors. Brief of Appellant at 87-88. The State disagrees.

During the sentencing phase proceeding, Detective Yuill testified that Paisano Publication Company, the owner of Easyrider's, sent him some documents which indicated possible embezzlement of funds from the store. Detective Yuill went to Easyrider's and went through the store's records with Appellant. He found that deposits totalling \$10,130.79 had not been credited to the store for the period from September 9, 1991, to October 31, 1991, although Appellant claimed that both he and the victim had made the deposits for those days. Detective Yuill could also not account for three checks written by the victim totalling \$15,500. In addition, the store's cash proceeds for December 16,

1991, the day of Carl Beard's murder, which totalled \$4,200, were also missing. Appellant was arrested that day for grand theft.

A few days later, 43 deposits slips made out for those missing days' funds, plus one of the unaccounted-for checks, was found hidden in a storage room at Easyrider's. (PT 98-109). Appellant told the police that he murdered Carl Beard when the victim confronted him about the theft of the money. (PT 140). Appellant also told his cellmate that he knew that the victim "had to be done away with to avoid his being found out." (PT 135). Based on these facts, the trial court did not err in finding this aggravating factor. See Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991) (murder of second victim was committed in furtherance of plot to kill wife for insurance money), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 390 (1992).

Regarding Appellant's claim that the trial court improperly doubled the pecuniary gain and avoid arrest aggravating factors, the State would again submit that Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review, since he failed to raise it in the trial court. Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Regardless, Appellant's claim has no merit. As the record reveals, Carl Beard's murder "was the culmination of a series of interrelated events stemming from the act of taking money from [Easyrider's]." Card v. State, 453 So.2d 17, 24 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 989 (1985). Not only had Appellant stolen money on more than one previous occasion, he stole the cash proceeds from the store that the victim had collected to take to the bank the next day. In addition to the thefts, however, a dominant motive for

Carl Beard's murder was to avoid arrest for the theft of the money. The victim knew Appellant, had evidence and a belief that Appellant had stolen the money, and was going to meet with bank officials the following day to discuss the missing money. Appellant believed that Mr. Beard would ultimately report his suspicions to the police, so Appellant killed him. Based on Card, the facts of this case support VII, supra. singular consideration of both aggravating factors. Even if they should have been considered as one, however, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentence would have been different in light of the substantial aggravation and the minimal mitigation in this case. See Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988). See also Capehart v. State, 583 So.2d 1009, 1015 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 955 (1992).

ISSUE X

WHETHER APPELLANT'S SENTENCE IS DISPROPORTIONATE (Restated).

Using his position as the manager of Easyrider's, Appellant embezzled a substantial sum of money to buy marijuana, which he used, instead of selling, and thus could not recoup the money before it was discovered missing. When confronted by his boss, Appellant decided that he "had to be done away with to avoid his being found out." (PT 135). Consequently, he struck the victim in the face with his fist, knocking him down, struck him again with his fist, then picked up a nearby brick and struck him between 6 and 12 times in the head, crushing his skull. killing Mr. Beard, Appellant enlisted the aid of his girlfriend, and Frank Fell and Mary Maibaurer, to clean up the mess and to dispose of the body, which they weighted down with bricks and threw in a canal some distance away. Appellant then solicited a cellmate and an undercover investigator to kill Fell and Maibaurer so that they would not testify against him.

In light of these facts, Appellant pled guilty to first-degree murder and to two counts of solicitation to commit murder. He also validly waived a sentencing jury and the presentation of mitigating evidence, although his attorney ignored his commands and presented some evidence in mitigation. Ultimately, the record supports the existence of four aggravating factors: 1) that Appellant had previously been convicted of felonies involving the use or threat of violence—the two counts of solicitation to commit murder, 2) that Appellant had committed

the murder to avoid his lawful arrest, 3) that Appellant had committed the murder for pecuniary gain, and 4) that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (R 504). Balanced against these substantial aggravating factors is evidence that Appellant "was a good family man, kind, generous, and compassionate" (R 505), although, needless to say, Appellant was neither kind, generous, nor compassionate to the victim in this case.

Appellant attempts to minimize the weight to be accorded to each of the aggravating factors and challenges the trial court's rejection of several statutory and nonstatutory mitigating factors. ²⁰ Brief of Appellant at 89-90. However, this Court's function is not to reweigh the facts or the aggravating and

²⁰ Appellant challenges each of the aggravating factors as separate issues in this appeal. To the extent that he seeks to challenge within this issue the trial court's rejection of mitigating factors, the State submits that their rejection was justified. For example, Appellant's convictions for two counts of solicitation to commit murder, which were committed after the murder but rendered before sentencing for the murder, constituted subtantial competent evidence upon which the trial court could reject Appellant's argument that he had no significant history of prior criminal activity. See Francis v. State, 473 So.2d 672, 677 (Fla. 1985), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>474 U.S. 1094 (1986); <u>Ruffin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 397 So.2d <u>277</u>, 283 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 454 U.S. 882</u> (1981). Similarly, the fact that the State originally agreed to accept a plea to life is not a mitigating factor. The State was just as willing to seek the death penalty in exchange for a guilty plea. Likewise, although the victim's family initially decided not to push for the death penalty, it changed its mind after Appellant attempted to have two of the witnesses killed. Since this was the subject of testimony at the (PT 183-84). penalty phase proceeding, the trial court obviously considered it, but properly gave it no weight. See Floyd v. State, 497 So.2d 1211, 1213 (Fla. 1986). Finally, the fact that Appellant expressed concern for the victim's family and worked hard to support his family was considered by the trial court when it found that Appellant was "a good family man, kind, generous, and compassionate." (R 505).

mitigating circumstances. Gunsby v. State, 574 So.2d 1085, 1090 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 116 L.Ed.2d 102 (1992); Hudson v. State, 538 So.2d 829, 831 (Fla. 1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 875 Rather, as the basis for proportionality review, this Court must accept, absent demonstrable legal error. aggravating and mitigating factors found by the trial court. State v. Henry, 456 So.2d 466 (Fla. 1984). It is upon that basis that this Court determines whether the defendant's sentence is too harsh in light of other decisions based on similar circumstances. Alvord v. State, 322 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 923 (1976). The four aggravating factors found in this case are supported by competent substantial evidence and far outweigh the nonstatutory mitigating evidence presented. Moreover, the trial court conscientiously weighed the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating evidence and concluded that death was warrant. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, his sentence is not disproportionate to other defendants' sentences for similar murders. See Henry v. State, 586 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 1991); Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 116 L.Ed.2d 340 (1992); Bruno v. State, 574 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1991); Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990); Cherry v. State, 544 So.2d 184 (Fla. 1989); Roberts v. State, 510 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1987); Rose v. State, 472 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1985); Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 920 (1984). Consequently, this Court should affirm Appellant's sentence of death.

ISSUE XI

WHETHER FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE OR AS APPLIED (Restated).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional on its face or as applied. Specifically, Appellant claims that (1) this Court violates the doctrine of separation of powers when it defines the operative terms of the aggravating factors, (2) the aggravating factors, especially HAC and CCP, are vague and overbroad, (3) aggravating factors do not adequately channel the sentencer's discretion because they allow consideration of evidence otherwise inadmissible (for example, the facts underlying previous convictions for felonies involving the use or threat violence), and (4) the failure to require the State to specify before trial the aggravating factors upon which it will rely violates procedural due process in that insufficient notice is accorded the defendant. Brief of Appellant at 95-104. None of these arguments, however, was made in the trial court below. Thus, they have not been preserved for review. Johnson v. Singletary, 18 F.L.W. S90 (Fla. Jan. 29, 1993); Fotopoulos v. State, 18 F.L.W. S18 (Fla. Dec. 24, 1992); Kennedy v. Singletary, 602 So.2d 1285 (Fla.), cert. denied, 120 L.Ed.2d 931 (1992).

Even if they had been properly preserved, they are wholly without merit. This Court has previously rejected Appellant's separation of powers argument in <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 587 So.2d 450, 454-55 (Fla. 1991); his vagueness and overbreadth arguments in <u>Hall v. State</u>, 18 F.L.W. S63, 65 (Fla. Jan. 14, 1993), and

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